United States Department of the Interior Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service

# National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form



See instructions in *How to Complete National Register Forms*Type all entries—complete applicable sections

Type all entries—complete applicable st	CHOUS		
1. Name			
historic First National Bank	Building		
and/or common Timmerman Buildin	าฮ		
2. Location			
street & number 101 South Cotton	Street	Ν	$^\prime\! \Delta$ not for publication
city, town Andalusia	N <u>/A</u> vicinity of	congressional district	II
state Alabama code	01 county	Covington	<b>code</b> 039
3. Classification			<u> </u>
Category Ownership  district public building(s) private structure both object in process being considered N/A	Status  X occupied  unoccupied X work in progress  Accessible X yes: restricted yes: unrestricted no	Present Use agriculture _X commercial educational entertainment government industrial military	museum park private residence religious scientific transportation other:
4. Owner of Proper	ty		
name S. Daniel Shehan & William	n T. Kiepura		
street & number 101 South Cotton	Street		
city, town Andalusia	N/A vicinity of	state	Alabama
5. Location of Lega	Il Descriptio	on	
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Covi	ngton County Court	house	
street & number Court Square North			
city, town Andalusia		state	Alabama
6. Representation	n Existing	Surveys	
title Alabama Inventory	has this pro	perty been determined ele	gible?yes Xno
date 1970-present			e county loca
depository for survey records Alabama	Historical Commiss		
city.town Montgomery		state	Alabama

### 7. Description

Condition     Check one     Check one       excellent     deteriorated     unaltered     original site       good     ruins     altered     moved     date       fair     unexposed	
---	--

#### Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The First National Bank Building is a six story (plus a basement and mezzanine) commercial building. The foundation is steel reinforced concrete which encloses the basement and is completely underground at the front (west end) of the building. The foundation is about four feet above ground level at the rear (east end) of the building. Ventilation to the basement is previded through two grated openings in the sidewalk on the north side of the building.

The structure of the building is steel reinforced concrete poured in place. All floors are 4" reinforced concrete slabs covered with a 4" layer of cinders and then a pine wood floor. The basement has a brick floor. The north and west exterior walls are 16" thick brick and stone. The east and south walls are 12" thick brick.

Photos #1 through #8 show the exterior decorative elements. There are nine bays on the north wall, two bays on the west wall, one bay on the east wall, and five bays on the south wall.

The roof is 4" reinforced concrete covered with felt and tar. There is one chimney (photo #3) on the south side near the rear of the building.

The main entrance (photo #10) has double, brass framed glass doors which were probably added in 1937. The original double doors (which are still stored in the basement) are wood framed glass similar to the ones on the side entrance (photo #11). Photo #12 shows the other side entrance, which is to the elevator lobby.

Windows on the front and north side of the building are wood sash windows with a single pane in each sash (photo #5). The first story has large arched windows with a rosette between each window (photo #1). The upper stories have double windows (photo #1). The windows on the rear and south side of the building are metal framed sash windows with two panes in each sash (photos #2 and #3).

Photo #13 shows an interior view of the bank area on the ground floor in 1943. Note the marble wainscotting and the ceramic tile floor. This area has undergone the most alteration through the years. In the sixties the marble teller wall was taken out, wood paneling was glued on the walls over the marble, and the ceiling was lowered to about ten feet. In August and September of 1981, the paneling was removed, the marble cleaned, the suspended ceiling removed so that the beautiful molding in the ceiling could be seen, and the room redecorated (photo #14). Although a new floor has been laid in the main room, the original ceramic tile floor is still being used in the hall at the rear of the main room and in the elevator lebby at the rear of the building. Photo #15 shows a portion of the main room as the paneling was being removed and one of the large arched windows. The beautiful molding in the ceiling and around the beams is shown in photo #16.

The second, third, fourth, fifth, and sixth stories remain unaltered. At present the walls are in need of refinishing; some of the woodwork needs refinishing or replacing. Some of the woodwork on windows needs replacing; all needs refinishing. New windows have been put in the sixth story (photo #7).

The building contains two Otis elevators--both operable. One was installed in 1921, and the other was installed in 1937.

A beautiful clock, which was added to the building in 1939 by the Commercial Bank, has been restored and now chimes the quarter hours and hours with its Westminster chimes (photo #9).

### 8. Significance

Period prehistoric 1400–1499 1500–1599 1600–1699 1700–1799 1800–1899X 1900–	Areas of Significance—C  archeology-prehistoric archeology-historic agriculture architecture art commerce communications	theck and justify below community planning conservation economics education engineering exploration/settleme industry invention	law literature military music	re religion science sculpture social/ humanitarian theater transportation other (specify)
Specific dates	1920-1921	Builder/Architect F	rank (Tubby) Lockwood	/Little, Cleckler
		aı	nd Company	

#### Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

#### COMMERCE/ARCHITECTURE:

The First National Bank Building is significant as southeast Alabama's only "skyscraper" and as the work of Frank Lockwood, one of Alabama's most noted architects in the late 19th and early 20th centuries. It is also significant for its associations with Andalusia's major banking insitutions.

\* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \*

Architect Frank Lockwood (1865-1936) designed for the bank Andalusia's first and only building on the skyscraper scale, and Little, Cleckler and Company of Anniston, Alabama constructed the building for \$115,000.

Frank Lockwood, one of the South's most noted architects, designed numerous other buildings in Alabama, notably the Federal Building in Montgomery; wings to the Alabama Capitol; addition to the First National Bank of Montgomery; Smith, Morgan, and Tutwiler halls, and gynmasium at the University of Alabama; Marion Military Institute; Trinity Presbyterian Church in Montogmery; the Episcopal churches at Dothan, Troy, and Talladega; the orphanage at Troy; the Houston Hotel at Dothan; and court houses in Andalusia, Baldwin County, Conecuh County, Escambia County, and Calhoun County.

The First National Bank was established in 1901 (Charter number 5970, district 6) by prominent local businessmen. It made such rapid progress as it served the business and manufacturing interests of Andalusia that by 1922 it had constructed and occupied a beautiful six story office building known as the First National Bank Building. In 1928 the First National Bank merged with the Andalusia National Bank under the name of Andalusia National Bank. Unfortunately, the new bank was forced to close its doors following a run in October 1932--a victim of the national depression. The bank's affairs were taken over by a receiver.

Serveral months later the Commercial Bank was founded and opened for business July 1, 1933, at another location. In 1937 the Commercial Bank purchased the First National Bank Building, re-conditioned the first story, and moved in in March. Later that year many of the offices in the building were re-conditioned as well as some being added on the sixth story, which had been used as a large civic room. The Commercial Bank also added a beautiful clock with four faces and Westminster chimes to the northwest corner of the building.

9. Majo	r Bib	liograp	hica	Refe	enc	es			
Lockwood, Fra	ank. The	National (	Cyclopaed	ia of Amer	ican B	iography.	J. T. W	nite,	1979, XXV
p. 63. Sanborn Map (	of Andalu	sia, Alaba	ma. Sanb	orn Map Co	mpany,	New York	1924.		
			 (see co	ntinuation	sheet	)			
10. Ge	ograp	hical I	Data						
Acreage of nomic Quadrangle nam UMT References		ty <u>less</u> tl lalusia	han 1	_		Quadr	angle scale _	1;	2400
A 116 54 Zone Eastir	9 31010 ng	314 613 6 Northing	51010	B   Z: D	one Ea	sting	Northing		<u></u>
G			<u> </u>	Ғ <u>Ļ</u> Н <u>L</u>					
Verbal boundar	ry descript	ion and justi	fication					<del></del>	
	(See Cont	inuation s	heet)						
List all states a			ties overla		or count			4.5	N/A
state N/.	A		ode 1771	county			COC	ie	
state N/		pared	ode N/A	county	N/	A	coc	de	N/A
II. FUI		pareu	Бу						
C	ovington	Shehan, Me County His sia Public	torical	Society	date	June	14, 1982		
street & number	South	Three Note	h Street		teleph	none (20	5) 222-781	.3	
city or town	Andalu	ısia		-	state	Alab	ama	•	
12. Sta	te His	storic	Prese	rvatio	n Of	ficer	Certif	ica	tion
The evaluated sig	nificance of	this property	within the st	ate,is:			1,		
and-o-to-	_ national	sta	te	√ local			•		
As the designated 665), I hereby non according to the d State Historic Pre	ninate this p criteria and p	roperty for inc procedures set	lusion in the	National Reg	ister and servation	certify that	it has been ev		
litle State	Historic	Preservati	ion Offic	er		date	July	22, 1	.982
For HCRS use o	nly	property is in	cluded in the	e National Reç		1	_	/	
Del	ous /	Fyen	En	ntered in t	he	date	8/	26/	82
Keeper of the N	ational Regi	ster 💆			var		/		
Attest: Chief of Registra	ation					date	)		
Ciliei Ol Registfi	aliuii								1

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR HERITAGE CONSERVATION AND RECREATION SERVICE

## NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

FOR HCRS USE ONLY
RECEIVED
DATE ENTERED

**CONTINUATION SHEET** 

ITEM NUMBER

PAGE

2

The Commercial Bank grew rapidly, and by 1958 it had to move to a new location on Church Street. The First National Bank Building was then purchased by Frank Timmerman to house the Timmerman Insurance Agency. The building still housed numerous attorneys, doctors, and business offices. It was still the largest office building in Covington County. Gradually, however, the building's tenants moved out until the building was completely abondoned by the end of 1972. After serving the business and professional community for some fifty years, the building seemed doomed. Most people thought its usefulness was over; however, a few could see a great future for it.

In 1981 the building was purchased by William T. Kiepura and S. Daniel Shehan and renamed First National Bank Building (The name had changed with each new ownership). The first new business to reopen the building was Covington Square, an ice cream parlor and sandwich shop, owned by Harriet and Bud Boarwright and Dan Shehan. The First National Bank Building is not only a part of Andalusia and Covington County's proud past but also shows promise of being a star in their bright future.

### United States Department of the Interior Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service

## National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form



Continuation sheet 2

Item number 9.Bibliography

Page 1

Simmons, Edward. Personal Interview, July 21, 1981.

#### Newspaper Articles

- Drawing at top of front page, The Andalusia Star, October 11, 1921.
- First National Bank advertisment, The Andalusia Star, October 11, 1921. (Note the bottom line.)
- First National Bank advertisment, Andalusia Daily Star, May 20, 1924. (photo)
- "First National Bank Is Great Asset of County," The Covington News, March 18, 1926, front page.
- "First National Bank Has Served This Section for over a Quarter of a Century," (also photo) Covington News, September 22, 1927, fifth section.
- "First National Bank Elects New Officers," Covington News, January 19, 1928, front page.
- "First National Bank Assists Section's Progress Many Years," (also photo) Andalusia Star, September 9, 1930, third section.
- "Local Banks Merge," The Covington News, October 12, 1931, front page.
- "Hon. T. E. Henderson Is Elected Vice-chairman of Consolidated Banks," <u>The Covington News</u>, October 12, 1931, front page.
- "R. N. McLeod President of New Concern," The Covington News, October 12, 1931, front page.
- "Makes First Deposit Tuesday (J. Frank Davis)," The Covington News, October 15, 1931, front page.
- "Andalusia National Bank Closes Doors Following Run," Andalusia Star, October 4, 1932, front page.
- "Bank Affairs Taken over by Receiver," Andalusia Star, October 18, 1932, front page.
- "Bank Receiver Now Ready to Meet Patrons," Andalusia Star, November 1, 1932, front page.
- "First Report of Closed Bank Made Public Today," Andalusia Star, November 8, 1932, front page.
- "The Commercial Bank to Open Doors for Business Here on Saturday, July 1," <u>Covington News</u>, June 29, 1933, front page.

### United States Department of the Interior Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service

# National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form



Continuation sheet 2

Item number 9. Bibliography

Page 2

- "\$65,000.00 Dividends Will Be Paid Depositors of Closed Andalusia National Bank,"

  <u>Covington News</u>, June 21, 1934, front page.
- "Commercial Buys First National Bank Building," Andalusia Star, January 7, 1937, front page.
- "First National Bank Building Bought by Commercial Bank," The Covington News, January 7, 1937, front page.
- "Bank Building Being Re-conditioned," Andalusia Star, January 28, 1937, front page.
- "Bank to Pay 4.7 Dividend," The Andalusia Star, February 3, 1938, front page.
- "Final Dividend to Be Paid by Receiver of Defunct Andalusia National Bank," <u>Covington News</u>, February 3, 1938, front page.
- "Local Bank Moves into New Home," The Covington News, March 4, 1937, front page.
- "The Commercial Bank Occupies New Quarters," <u>The Andalusia Star</u>, March 4, 1937, front page.
- "New Elevator Installed in Commercial Bank Building," Andalusia Star, May 6, 1937, front page.
- "500 Pieces of Personal Property Not Claimed at Receiver's Office," Andalusia Star, June 10, 1937, front page.
- "Additional Offices in Bank Building Being Re-conditioned," Andalusia Star, July 22, 1937, p. 4.
- "New Offices Added to Commercial Bank Building," The Covington News, July 22, 1937, front page.
- "Bank and Office Building," The Covington News, October 14, 1937, Section 3, p. 1.
- "Chimes to Strike the Passing Hours," Andalusia Star, February 9, 1939, front page.
- "Bank Eyes New Building," Andalusia Star News, April 18, 1957, front page.
- "Bank to Be Built; Ground Broken," Andalusia Star News, November 14, 1957, front page.
- "Commercial Bank in New Building," Andalusia Star News, December 4, 1958, front page.

FHR-8-300A (11/78)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR HERITAGE CONSERVATION AND RECREATION SERVICE

## NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

FOR HCRS USE ONLY
RECEIVED
DATE ENTERED.

**CONTINUATION SHEET** 

ITEM NUMBER 10 PAGE 1

Beginning at the Southeast corner of the Public Square, and running thence South with the East line of the sidewalk on the East side of Cotton Street, a distance of 25 feet, and running thence East a distance of 100 feet; thence North a distance of 25 feet, and running thence west along the South line of the sidewalk on the South side of Coffee Street a distance of 100 feet to starting point.